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Distance: .8 miles 
Begin: City Hall  
           (Corner of Church Street               
           and Fitzhugh Street) 
End: City Hall 
 
On this walking tour, youôll discover 
the 100-Acre Tract, Rochesterôs 
oldest ñneighborhood,ò and see the 
Court House Square, now the 
home of the Monroe County Office 
Building and Rochesterôs former 
city hall.  



 
In 1803, Ebenezer Allan turned over the title of 
100 acres alongside the west bank of the 
Genesee River to William Fitzhugh, Charles 
Carroll, and Colonel Nathaniel Rochester. In 
1811, Colonel Rochester subdivided the parcel 
into building lots, reserving the parcel in the 
center as the Court House Square. In 1817 
when Rochesterville was incorporated as a 
village, the former 100-Acre Tract became the 
center of government and commerce as well as 
a residential neighborhood. 

 

 
Originally constructed as the federal office and 
courthouse building, the old Federal Building 
has housed a number of government 
operations including taxation, customs, draft 
boards, and, until 1930, Rochesterôs main post 
office. In 1973, the U.S. government offices 
were relocated to a new building on State 
Street and for three years this building 
remained vacant. 
 
The City of Rochester acquired the building in 
1975 for $1.00, and started renovation and 
construction of a 45,000-square-foot addition. 
This award-winning project, honored by the 
National Trust for Historic Preservation, was 
completed in 1978 and shortly thereafter, the 
Cityôs administration offices moved into the 
ñnewò City Hall. 

 
From your vantage point at the corner of 
Church and Fitzhugh Streets, look north 
along Fitzhugh.  

 

 

Youôll see the Downtown United Presbyterian 
Church, 113-121 N. Fitzhugh Street. Originally 
called ñBrick Church,ò this building, designed by 
Andrew Jackson Warner, was constructed in 
1860, in the Romanesque Revival style, 
characterized by the round-arched window and 
door openings. It replaced a small brick structure 
erected on this site in 1827. In 1903, a fire in the 
lantern factory directly opposite the church spread 
to the churchôs tall wooden spire, which then fell 
through the burning roof. Only the buildingôs side 
walls and two large iron columns supporting its 
interior corners survived. 
 
J. Foster Warner, son of A. J. Warner, was hired 
as the architect when the church was rebuilt 
along the same lines as the original, with just one 
important exterior change: the Gothic steeples 
were replaced with two square Italianate towers 
to match the rest of the structureôs Romanesque 
style. Also, during the reconstruction, Tiffany 
stained-glass windows were installed in the 
sanctuary. In 1973-74, three downtown 
Presbyterian congregations merged into one and 
the name was changed to Downtown United 
Presbyterian Church. 
 
Andrew Jackson Warner (1833-1910) and his 
son, J. Foster Warner (1859-1937) designed 
many of Rochesterôs most enduring 19th-century 
buildings. Each was able to work successfully in 
the varied architectural styles that became 
fashionable during their long, notable careers. 

 
Walk south on Fitzhugh Street toward the 
intersection of East Main Street. 

 

 
The first stop on the tour is City Hall (old 
Federal Building), 30 Church Street. Built 
between 1885 and 1889, the Federal Building 
is one of the three 19

th
 century government 

buildings remaining in Rochester. This superb 
example of Richardsonian Romanesque 
architecture is characterized by the massive 
walls, arches and towers that dominate its 
brown sandstone exterior. 
 
In contrast, the buildingôs interior is defined by 
delicate detail and embellished with fine 
materials. The elegant three-story atrium, with 
its cast-iron work and marble columns, is one 
of the most beautiful interiors in the county and 
should not be missed. (The building is open to 
the public weekdays, 9-5.) 
 
 



 

 
Notice the tall cream-colored Neo-Classical 
Revival building on your right. It is called City 
Place, now a Monroe County office building, 50 
W. Main Street. Originally the Duffy-
McInnerney Department Store, this 1907 
building has a distinctive terra cotta exterior. 

 
Now look across Main Street at the 
Monroe County Office Building, 39 West 
Main Street. 

 

 
The Monroe County Office Building is the 
former Monroe County Court House, built in 
1894-96. It is the third courthouse on this site. 
Designed by J. Foster Warner, it replaced a 
smaller courthouse erected in 1850-51. The 
present building, representing the Neo-
Classical revival of the 1890s, is a handsome 
example of the Italian Renaissance style, with 
its granite exterior featuring round-arched 
windows and heavy hood moldings. Look up at 
the wood statue of ñJusticeò in the front niche of 
the building, which was originally carved for 
and located atop the dome of the second 
county courthouse.  
 
Walk inside and see the sky lit central 
courtyard, a model of historic civic grandeur. It 
is open to the public weekdays from 9-5. 
Before you leave, look for the cornerstone with 
the three construction dates. 

 
Cross Main Street and continue along the 
east side of Fitzhugh Street. Youôll soon 
be in front of the Academy Building, 13 S. 
Fitzhugh Street. 

 

 
The Academy Building (originally the 
Rochester Free Academy) was constructed in 
1872-73 and represents the latter phase of the 
Gothic Revival in the 19th century. A major 
work of local architect Andrew Jackson 
Warner, it is a masterpiece of sophisticated 
design and expert craftsmanship. Look up and 
enjoy the visual delight of the elaborate 
windows and arches, floral-incised panels, and 
delicately carved colonnettes. 
 
The Academy is the fourth school building on 
this site, which was deeded to the School 
District in 1831. It was the only high school in 
the city for 30 years, became the Municipal 
Court and Education Building in 1904, and 
served as headquarters for the Board of 
Education from 1926-79. In 1981, the buildingôs 
new owners transformed its stark interior into 
office space with a beautiful and dramatically 
sky lit central atrium. 

 
Next to the Academy Building is St. Luke 
& St. Simon Cyrene Church, 17 S. 
Fitzhugh Street. 



 

 
St. Lukeôs/St. Simone Cyrene Episcopal 
Church was built beside the new Erie Canal in 
1824 and is the oldest surviving public building 
in Rochester. (Try to imagine Broad Street as a 
body of water.) Designed by New York 
architect Josiah R. Brady, it is an unusually 
early example of 19th-century Gothic Revival 
style. Although its rectangular plan, 
pedimented gable and slightly projecting tower 
conform to the then-popular New England 
meetinghouse style, its pointed windows, 
pinnacles and many interior details are of 
Gothic origin. In 1988, St. Lukeôs, Rochesterôs 
oldest Episcopal congregation, combined with 
St. Simon Cyrene, the cityôs only African-
American Episcopal congregation. 

 
Directly across the street from St. Lukeôs 
Church (at the corner of Broad and 
Fitzhugh Streets) is Irving Place, 30 
Broad Street, Rochesterôs first city hall. 

 

 
Irving Place is a handsome five-story building 
with a bell tower, designed by Andrew Jackson 
Warner and built in 1873-74. Originally its back 
door (now the front door on Broad Street) 
opened onto the Erie Canal. The building was 
constructed of Lockport Greystone with a 
smooth sandstone trim. The 6,230-pound bell 
in the square tower was cast in 1851 and 
originally hung in the second County Court 
House dome. Old City Hall, like the Academy 
Building, is characterized by its angularity and 
vertical feeling, but the design is a more 
simplified Gothic Style. 
 
The exterior has had few alterations over the 
years. The main entrance was removed in 
1894 to accommodate the connecting arcade 
of the County Building to the north, and the 
pointed spire is gone from the bell tower. 
Originally, there was a small park between the 
County Court House and old City Hall. 
 
When erected, the interior consisted of four 
stories with a large auditorium on the top floor. 
An additional fifth floor was constructed within 
the auditorium space prior to the turn of the 
century. City government eventually outgrew 
the 19th-century building, and its offices were 
relocated in 1977 to the newly renovated 
Federal Building on Church Street. After being 
vacant for three years, old City Hall was 
rehabilitated by a private investor. 
 

 
Standing on the corner of Broad and 
Fitzhugh Streets looking south, youôll 
discover a curious sight partially hidden 
by trees: a graceful residential structure 
surrounded by large office buildings and 
the entrance to a public garage. 

 

 
This is the Ebenezer Watts House, 47 S. 
Fitzhugh Street. Built between 1825 and 1827 
for Ebenezer Watts, Rochesterôs first hardware 
merchant, this house served as the family 
homestead until 1874. A blend of late Federal 
and early Greek Revival details, it is an 
example of this transition era of architecture. 
Monroe County has created a plaza in front of 
the building and uses this oldest residential 
building in downtown as a conference center. 

 
Turn right onto Broad Street and walk 
until you come to the Plymouth Avenue 
intersection. Then turn left (south) on 
Plymouth Avenue and continue walking 
on the east side of the street until you 
come to Spring Street. 


